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I 

INTRODUCTION 

1. On the afternoon of September 17,2006, a Sunday, 42-year old James P. Chasse, 

Jr. ("Chasse"), was walking in the Northwest Portland neighborhood where he lived. Chasse was 

carrying a backpack containing, several vintage books, comics, and a sandwich. He was a gentle 

and a kind man who was in good physical health and enjoyed a peaceful life. 

2. Chasse's life was brought to a tragic end early that evening. Chasse had not used 

drugs or alcohol and had committed no crime. No one had complained about his behavior. 

Nevertheless, Portland Police Officer Christopher Humphreys with the assistance of Portland 

Police Sergeant Kyle Nice and Multnomah County Deputy Sheriff Bret Burton tackled Chasse, 

smashed him face first to the concrete sidewalk, and brutally assaulted him with the assistance of. 

Chasse was terrified and injured after being driven face first into the concrete by the three large 

officers whom he had never seen before. In response, he struggled in an attempt to avoid having 

his arms violently wrenched behind his back. Over the ensuing few minutes, and again without 

cause or provocation, Chasse was repeatedly and viciously punched, struck, kicked, kneed in the 

head, back, ribs, and chest by Humphreys, Nice, and Burton. He was also repeatedly tasered by 

Burton. 

3. As a result of that use of extreme, excessive, brutal, and deadly physical force, 

Chasse suffered massive physical injuries and trauma, including, but not necessarily limited to: 

a. Multiple contusions and abrasions around his eyes, mouth, jaw and nose. A large 

contusion on the back of his head. Contusions over his chest, back, abdomen and right hip. 

Internal hemorrhaging of the posterior left and right chest wall. 
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b. Multiple fractures of his ribs, with associated hemorrhaging. These included 

fractures to 11 of 12 ribs in his posterior left chest wall. These fractures were often multiple and 

comminuted. 

c. Perforation and penetration of his left lung posteriorly by the comminuted 

posterior rib fractures. Contusion and hemorrhaging into the soft tissue of his left and right lung 

and chest wall. 

d. Multiple fractures of his distal left clavicle (shoulder). 

e. The fractures to his ribs and left shoulder caused intense pain. The injuries to his 

ribs and the penetration of his left lung significantly decreased his ability to breathe, causing 

hypoxia, anxiety, fear and panic. Ultimately, these injuries led to cessation of breathing, 

respiratoly arrest, seizure, and, finally, cardiac arrest. 

4. After assaulting Chasse, and realizing there were many civilian witnesses to the 

events, Humphreys, Nice, and Burton, with the aid of other Portland police officers, engaged in 

a deliberate cover-up of their brutal assault of Chasse. Specifically: Humphreys publicly 

announced for paramedics and civilian witnesses to hear that he had found "cocaine" belonging 

to Chasse, when in fact he knew what he had found and bagged as evidence was bread crumbs; 

another police officer lied and falsely told civilian witnesses that Chasse had 14 "cocaine" 

convictions; Humphreys, Nice, and Burton failed to disclose to the paramedics and other medical 

personnel that they had brutally assaulted Chasse; and Humphreys and other officers lied and told 

the public that Chasse was a "transient" and was using or "on drugs." 

5. Following their use of deadly force, and over the course of the next hour until he 

died, Defendants Humphreys, Nice, Burton and other defendants, including Portland 
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firefighterslparamedics, and other Multnomah County deputy sheriffs and medical personnel, 

failed to provide any help whatsoever to this dying man, which ultimately resulted in him going 

into respiratory arrest, cardiac arrest, and then dying. 

6. As described in fl54-70, below, certain policies and well-established official 

practices of the City of Portland, its Police Bureau, Multnomah County, the Multnomah County 

Sheriffs Office, and various Portland and county officials also contributed, in part, to Chasse's 

death. 

7. This civil rights action is brought by the plaintiffs, who are Chasse's father (James 

P. Chassi), mother (Linda Gerber), brother (Mark Chasse), and his estate. Plaintiffs seek 

damages arising out of the tragic and brutal death of Chasse which was caused by defendants. 

Plaintiffs also may seek necessary injunctive relief to enjoin mc! prevent the City of Portlmd, 

Multnomah County, and their employees and officials, from continuing to allow and cause 

egregious violations of the constitutional rights of and the wrongful deaths of innocent citizens. 

8. First Claim - Pursuant to 42 USC 5 1983, plaintiffs allege that Defendants 

Humphreys, Nice, Portland John and Jane Doe officials, City of Portland, and Burton, violated 

the rights of James P. Chasse, Jr., protected by the Fourth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution, when stopped, detained, and arrested him, and when they used or allowed the use of 

extreme, excessive, brutal, and deadly physical force which caused his inhumane and tortured 

death. 

9. Second Claim - Pursuant to 42 USC 5 1983, plaintiffs allege that Defendants 

Hurnphreys, Nice, Portland John Doe firefighterslparamedics, Burton, Multnomah County John 

and Jane Doe deputy sheriffs, and medical personnel, and officials, and Multnomah County, 
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rio!ated the Fourth Amendment, when they were deliberately indifferent to, or allowed or 

directed others to be, deliberately indifferent to, James P. Chasse, Jr.'s serious medical needs 

which caused his inhumane and tortured death. 

10. Third Claim - Pursuant to 42 USC § 1983, plaintiffs allege that Defendants 

Multnomah County John and Jane Doe deputy sheriffs, medical personnel, and officials, and 

Multnomah County, violated the Fourteenth Amendment, when they were deliberately indifferent 

to, or allowed or directed others to be, deliberately indifferent to, James P. Chasse, Jr.'s serious 

medical needs, treated him unreasonably, and inflicted punishment on him, all of which caused 

his inhumane and tortured death. 

11. Fourth Claim - Pursuant to 42 USC 3 1983, plaintiffs allege that the conduct of 

Defendants Humphreys, Nice, Portland John Doe firefighterslparamedics and officials, City of 

Portland, Burton, and Multnomah County John and Jane Doe deputy sheriffs, medical personnel, 

and officials, and Multnomah County, which caused the inhumane and tortured death of Plaintiff 

James P. Chasse, Jr., was unreasonable andlor so arbitrary that it shocks the conscience and 

violated the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

12. Fifth C l a i m  Pursuant to 42 USC 5 1983, plaintiffs allege that the conduct of 

Defendants Humphreys, Nice, City of Portland John firefighterslparamedics and officials, City of 

Portland, Burton, Multnomah County John and Jane Doe deputy sheriffs, medical personnel, and 

officials, and Multnomah County, denied James P. Chasse, Jr., the equal protection of the laws 

by rtiscriminating or causing the discrimination against him on the basis that he was mentally ill 

and thereby caused his inhumane and tortured death, in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment. 

13. Sixth Claim - Pursuant to 42 USC §1985(3), plaintiffs allege that Defendants 

PAGE 6 - COMPLAIN? 

S T E E N S O N  
S C H U M A N N  
T E W K S B U R Y  
C R E l G H T O N  
a n d  ROSE,  P C  
815 S.W. 2nd Aye. #SO0 
Panland, Or. 97204 
Tel: (503) 221-1792 



Humphreys, Nice, Burton, and others acted together to deprive James P. Chasse, Jr., of his 

Fourteenth Amendment equal protection rights because of his known or suspected mental illness, 

which actions were a cause of his injuries, pain, suffering, and his inhumane and tortured death. 

Additionally, pursuant to 42 USC 5 1986, one or more of those three defendants neglected or 

refused to prevent the deprivation of James P. Chasse's rights as described herein. 

14. Seventh Claim - Pursuant to Title I1 of the Americans with Disabilities Act 

("ADA") (42 USC $ 5  12131-12165), Section 504 of the 1973 Rehabilitation Act ('iRehab Act"), 

ORS 659A.142, and Portland City Ordinance 23.01.070, plaintiffs allege that Defendants City of 

Portland and Multnomah County deprived Plaintiff James P. Chasse, Jr., of his right to the equal 

opportunity to participate fully in the public accommodations offered to citizens of the City of 

Portland, the State of Oregon, and of the United States of America and failed to reasonably 

accommodate his disability. In addition, Defendants City of Portland and Multnomah County 

failed to evaluate and modify their services, policies and practices in order to comply with the 

ADA and the Rehab Act. 

15. Eighth Claim - Pursuant to ORS 30.020 and ORS 30.275, plaintiffs allege that 

Defendants City of Portland and Multnomah County subjected Plaintiff James P. Chasse, Jr., to 

the intentional infliction of severe emotional distress. 

16. Ninth Claim - Pursuant to ORS 30.020 and ORS 30.275, plaintiffs allege that the 

negligence of Defendants City of Portland, Multnomah County, Tri-County Metropolitan 

Transportation District of Oregon, and American Medical Response Northwest, Inc., caused the 

inhumane, tortured and wrongful death of Plaintiff James P. Chasse, Jr. 

17. Tenth Claim - Pursuant to 42 USC 3 1983, plaintiffs may seek necessary 
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injunctive relief to enjoin and prevent the City of Portland, Multnomah County, and their 

employees and officials, from continuing to allow and cause egregious violations of the 

constitutional rights of and the wrongful deaths of innocent citizens. 

18. Plaintiffs seek awards of economic damages, non-economic damages, attorney 

fees, and litigation expenses/costs against all defendants, as appropriate. Plaintiffs also seek an 

award of punitive damages against Defendants Humphreys, Nice, City of Portland John and Jane 

Zaz officials, Burton, and Multnomah County John and Jane Doe deputy sheriffs, medical 

personnel, and officials, under federal law. 

I1 

JURISDICTION 

19. This court has jurisdiction overplaintiffs' claims by virtue of 28 USC §§ 1331, 

1343, and 1367, and42 USC §§ 12133 and 12188. 

111 

PARTIES 

20. Plaintiff James P. Chasse, Jr. ("Chasse") is deceased. At the time of his death, 

Chasse was 42 years old and had been living with a diagnosis of mental illness for more than 25 

years. 

21. Plaintiff James P. Chass6 is Chasse's surviving father. 

22. Plaintiff Linda Gerber is Chasse's surviving mother. 

23. Mark Chasse is Chasse's surviving brother. He is the duly appointed Personal 

Representative of the Estate of James P. Chasse, Jr. 

24. At all material times herein, Defendant Christopher Humphreys ("Humphreys") 
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and Defendant Kyle Nice ("Nice") were Portland Police Officers acting within the course and 

scope of their employment with the City of Portland ("Portland"). They are sued in their 

individual capacities only. 

25. Portland is a public body responsible under state law for the acts and omissions of 

its employees and officials, including those whose conduct is at issue herein. 

26. At all material times herein, the Portland John and Jane Doe defendants were 

Portland Fire Bureau firefighterslparamedics, Portland Police Bureau officials, and other 

Portland officials (including those who are elected), acting within the course and scope of their 

employment with Portland. They are sued in their individual capacities. The Portland John and 

Jane Doe officials are also sued in their official capacities. 

27. At all material times herein, Defendant Bret Burton ("Burton") was a Multnomah 

County deputy sheriff acting within the course and scope of his employment with Multnomah 

County. He is sued in his individual capacity only. 

28. Defendant Multnomah County is a public body responsible under state law for the 

acts and omissions of its employees and officials, including those whose conduct is at issue 

herein. 

29. At all material times herein, the Multnomah County John and Jane Doe 

defendants were deputy sheriffs, medical personnel, Sheriffs Office officials, and other county 

officials (including those who are elected). All such defendants were employees acting within 

the course and scope of their employment with Multnomah County. They are sued in their 

individual capacities. The Multnomah County John and Jane Doe officials are also sued in their 

official capacities. 
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30. The Tri-County Metropolitan Transportation District of Oregon ("TriMet") is a 

public body responsible under state law for the acts and omissions of its employees and other 

individuals selected and assigned to its Transit Police Division, including those whose conduct is 

at issue herein. TriMet has entered into intergovernmental agreements with Portland, the 

County, and other jurisdictions, to have police officers and deputy sheriffs, such as Humphreys 

and Burton, selected and assigned to work with the TriMet Transit Police Division ("Transit 

Police Division") and to provide transit police services. Portland, Multnomah County, other 

jurisdictions with police departments, and TriMet, work together and jointly decide which police 

officers and deputy sheriffs shall be selected and assigned to the Division. Supervision of police 

personnel for the daily operations of the Transit Police Division is provided by the division's 

command personnel. 

3 1. At all material times herein, Humphreys and Burton had been selected and 

assigned, respectively, by Portland, Multnomah County, and TriMet to the Transit Police 

Division. In that capacity, they were agents of TriMet. 

32. Defendant AMR Northwest is a subsidiary of American Medical Response, Inc. 

AMR Northwest is registered in and doing business in Oregon. At all times material herein, 

AMR Northwest has been a medical transportation company, engaged in the business of 

providing exclusive emergency ambulance and advanced life support services for Multnomah 

County through a contract with the County to provide those public services. 

33. As discovery in this civil rights action reveals, plaintiffs will seek in an Amended 

Complaint to add the true names of any John and Jane Doe defendants who may be determined to 

have caused constitutional violations. 
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IV 

FACTS 

34. At all times material herein, defendants acted under color of state law. 

A. Events Near NW 1 3 I h  and Everett St. (approx. 5:18 - 5:45 p.m.) 

35. On the afternoon of September 17,2006, a Sunday, 42-year old Chasse was 

walking in the Northwest Portland neighborhood where he lived. Chasse was canying a 

backpack containing several vintage books, comics, and a sandwich. Chasse had not used drugs 

or alcohol and had committed no crime. No one had complained about his behavior. 

Nevertheless, 

36. Nevertheless, without cause or provocation, near the comer of NW 13th Avenue 

and NW Everett Street and at approximately 5: 18 p.m., Chasse was tackled, smashed to the 

concrete sidewalk, and brutally assaulted by Humphreys with the assistance of Nice and Burton. 

Chasse was terrified and injured after being smashed face first to the concrete sidewalk by the 

three large officers whom he had never seen before. In response, he struggled in an attempt to 

avoid having his arms violently wrenched behind his back for handcuffing. Thereafter and again 

without cause or provocation, Chasse was repeatedly and viciously punched, struck, kicked, and 

kneed in the head, back, ribs, and chest by Humphreys, Nice, and Burton. He was also 

repeatedly tasered by Burton. No later than 5:22 p.m., those defendants had handcuffed Chasse 

behind his back and tied his hands to his feet which were also tied together with a hobble, 

thereby hogtying him. 

37. As a result of the above described conduct by those defendants, Chasse suffered 

massive physical injuries and trauma, including, but not necessarily limited to: 
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a. Multiple contusions and abrasions around his eyes, mouth, jaw and nose. A large 

contusion on the back of his head. Contusions over his chest, back, abdomen and right hip. 

Internal hemorrhaging of the posterior left and right chest wall. 

b. Multiple fractures of his ribs, with associated hemorrhaging. These included 

fractures to 11 of 12 ribs in his posterior left chest wall. These fractures were often multiple and 

comminuted. 

c. Perforation and penetration of his left lung posteriorly by the comminuted 

posterior rib fractures. Contusion and hemorrhaging into the soft tissue of his left and right lung 

an4 chest wall. 

d. Multiple fractures of his distal left clavicle (shoulder). 

e. The fractures to his ribs and left shoulder caused intense pain. The injuries to his 

ribs and the penetration of his left lung significantly decreased his ability to breathe, causing 

hypoxia, anxiety, fear and panic. Ultimately, these injuries led to cessation of breathing, 

respiratory arrest, seizure, and, finally, cardiac arrest 

38. Shortly after being assaulted and hogtied, Chasse stopped breathing and lost 

consciousness. Nice made a Code-3 request for medical assistance at approximately 5:23 p.m. 

By approximately 5:26 p.m., AMR Northwest paramedics and the John Doe Portland 

firefighterslparamedics had arrived. Chasse had regained consciousness but was moaning in 

pain. After the arrival of the medical personnel, Humphreys, Nice, and Burton were deliberately 

indifferent and/or negligent with regard to Chasse's serious medical needs and engaged in a 

deliberate cover-up of their assault of Chasse, in one or more of the following ways: 

a. By failing to disclose to the paramedics from AMR Northwest and the John Doe 
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Portland firefighterslparamedics that they had brutally assaulted and smashed Chasse to the 

concrete and had repeatedly and viciously punched, stmck, kicked, and kneed him in the head, 

Back, ribs and chest, and tasered him; 

b. By Humphreys publicly announcing for paramedics and civilian witnesses and 

paramedics to hear that he had found "cocaine" belonging to Chasse when Humphreys knew 

what he had found and bagged as evidence was bread crumbs; 

c. By publicly misrepresenting that Chasse was involved with dmgs and was under 

the influence of drugs; 

d. By conspiring with other police officers to further denigrate Chasse in the eyes of 

civilian witnesses and the paramedics, by having another police officer who came on the scene 

tell witnesses that Chasse had 14 prior "cocaine" convictions, when that officer knew that 

information was a lie and that Chasse had no drug convictions; 

e. By falsely arresting and charging Chasse with crimes to cover up the unlawful and 

unconstitutional stop and use of extreme, excessive, brutal, and deadly physical force to prevent 

trained medical personnel from discovering and treating his injuries. 

39. The AMR paramedics were negligent with regard to Chasse's serious medical 

needs, in one or more of the following ways: 

a. By failing to take an adequate and complete history of the nature and cause of 

Chasse's injuries; 

b. By failing to determine the cause and mechanism of his injuries, including his 

cessation of breathing and unconsciousness; 

c. By failing to perform a complete and thorough physical exam; 
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d. By failing to thoroughly assess Chasse's respiratory status; 

e. By failing to take adequate and accurate vital signs; 

f. By failing to treat Chasse's respiratory problem with supplemental oxygen; 

g. By failing to determine the cause and to treat the condition causing blood to drain 

from Chasse's mouth; and 

h. By failing to turn over the care of Chasse to a person of higher medical skill. 

40. The John Doe Portland firefighterslpararnedics were also negligent and 

deliberately indifferent to Chasse's serious medical needs as described in 7 39 above. 

41. Instead of transporting or allowing the transport of Chasse to a hospital, 

Humphreys and Burton arrested and transported Chasse to the Multnomah County Detention 

Center ("jail") and falsely charged him with crimes to cover up their unlawful and 

unconstitutional stop of Chasse and their use of extreme, excessive, brutal, brutal, and deadly 

physical force against him. 

B. Events Driving to the Jail (approx. 5:46 - 6:05 p.m.) 

42. Humphreys, Burton, and other Portland police officers carried Chasse hogtied, 

face down to a police cruiser, despite the injuries to his ribs, shoulder and profuse bleeding from 

his mouth. While being carried, Chasse screamed, moaned, and struggled because he was in 

intense pain due to his rib injuries, punctured lung, and fractured clavicle and could not breathe 

because of these injuries, was hypoxic, and feared for his life. As he screamed and moaned in 

pain, a Portland firefighterlparamedic made mocking moans and cries, suggesting that Chasse 

was faking his injuries. 

43. En route to the jail, Humphreys continued his coverup of what had been done to 

S T E E N S O N  

PAGE 14 - COMPLAINT 

S C H U M A N N  
T E I Y K S B U R V  
C R E I G H T O N  
and  ROSE, P C  
815 S.W. 2nd Ave. #SO0 
Portland. Or. 97104 



Chasse by listing him as a "transient" in his police report, despite having his actual street address 

from Chasse's Oregon identification card, which was in Humphreys' possession. 

44. After arriving at the jail, in a further attempt to cover up the severity of Chasse's 

critical injuries Humphreys and Burton covered Chasse's head and face, which was bloody, with 

a gauze "spit sock." The "spit sock" further complicated Chasse's breathing because the blood 

flowing from his mouth congealed on the sock, around his mouth and nose, and it prevented 

others from assessing his level of consciousness. 

C. Events in the Jail (approx. 6:06 - 6:19 p.m.) 

45. At approximately 6:06 p.m., Chasse was carried into a separation cell by 

Humphreys, Burton, and some of the Multnomah County John Doe deputy sheriff defendants. 

While being carried, Chasse screamed. moaned, cried out, and struggled because he was in 

intense pain from the multiple rib fractures and fractured shoulder, was hypoxic, and feared he 

would suffocate to death. After being placed on the floor in the separation cell, the handcuffs 

and straps around his feet were removed from Chasse. Chasse was left on the floor of the cell, 

with the bloody "spit sock" still on his head covering his face. While lying on the floor, Chasse: 

a. Moaned and cried out for help; 

b. Stopped breathing and lapsed into unconsciousness; 

c. Suffered repeated seizures; and 

d. Continued to bleed from his mouth into the gauze "spit sock" covering his face. 

46. The events described in 745, above, were observed by Humphreys, Burton, and 

various jail personnel, including ones medically trained. Nevertheless, no one entered Chasse's 

cell or otherwise tried to help Chasse or attend to his medical needs. No one called 91 1 or 
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summoned paramedics. 

47. Humphreys and Burton engaged in a deliberate cover-up of their assault of Chasse 

and were deliberately indifferent andlor negligent with regard to his critical injuries and serious 

medical needs, in one or more of the following ways: 

a. By failing to disclose they had brutally assaulted and smashed Chasse to the 

ground and had repeatedly and viciously punched, struck, kicked, kneed, and tasered him; 

b. By failing to disclose to employees at the jail, including medical personnel, that 

Chasse had stopped breathing and became unconscious after the assault; 

c. By misrepresenting that Chasse was involved with drugs or was under the 

influence of drugs; 

d. By covering Chasse's head and face with a "spit sock" to conceal his facial and 

h d  injuries and that he continued to bleed from his mouth; 

e. By failing to remove the blood-covered gauze "spit sock" from his head when he 

stopped breathing and went into convulsions; 

f. By ignoring Chasse's moans and cries of intense pain; 

g. By not calling 91 1 and summoning paramedics after he had stopped breathing and 

gone into convulsions; and 

h. By continuing to ask jail officials to accept Chasse after he had stopped breathing 

and had gone into convulsions, thus delaying Chasse's is transport to a hospital. 

48. The Multnomah County John and Jane Doe deputy sheriffs and medical personnel 

who were present at the jail showed deliberate indifference and further contributed to the 

worsening of Chasse's condition and, ultimately, his tortured death by: 
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a. By failing to enter the cell and help Chasse when he stopped breathing, and then 

went into convulsions; 

b. By failing to remove the blood-covered gauze "spit sock" from his head and face 

when they knew or should have known that the "spit sock" would make Chasse's breathing even 

more difficult and would conceal his level of consciousness; 

c. By not providing any emergency medical assistance; 

d. By ignoring Chasse's moans and cries of intense pain; and 

e. By not immediately calling 91 1 and summoning paramedics to treat these life 

threatening conditions and transport Chasse to a hospital after he had again stopped breathing 

and begun convulsing. 

49. Because of Chasse's serious medical needs, the Multnomah County John and Jane 

Doe deputy sheriffs and medical personnel who were present at the jail refused to allow Chasse 

to remain at the jail. They also refused to provide him with emergency medical treatment. At 

least in part, the decision not to provide him with emergency medical treatment was caused by 

Multnomah County's policy of refusing to provide individuals with emergency medical treatment 

when the individual is unconscious or, in the judgment of the county's medical personnel, 

medically unacceptable 

D. Events While Taking Chasse out of the Jail (approx. 6:20 - 6:22 p.m.) 

50. Having been rejected by the jail personnel because of Chasse's serious medical 

condition, Humphreys and Burton reapplied, or caused the reapplication of, the handcuffs and the 

hobble to Chasse, and carried him out of the jail to a police vehicle for transport to a hospital. 

Chasse was carried by Burton and some of the John Doe deputy sheriffs to the police cruiser 
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handcuffed behind his back, with his feet tied together, face down, and still with the "spit sock" 

on: even though they knew or should have known that being carried like that would further 

aggravate his rib and lung injuries and worsen his respiratory problems which were life 

threatening. While being carried out of the jail, Chasse continued to moan, cry out, and struggle 

because he was in intense pain, was hypoxic, panicky, and was suffocating to death. 

E. Driving to Portland Adventist Hospital (approx. 6:23 - 6:29 p.m.) 

51. After leaving the jail at approximately 6:23 p.m, Humphreys and Burton showed 

Seiiberate indifference and further contributed to the worsening of Chasse's condition and, 

ultimately, his tortured death by: 

a. By proceeding to take the critically injured Chasse with life threatening, 

respiratory injuries to a distant hospital (Portland Adventist) with no increased speed, lights, or 

siren (Code 1); 

b. By transporting Chasse alone in the back of the police cruiser with a blood- 

covered gauze "spit sock" over his head and face, when they knew or should have known they 

could not monitor his level of consciousness this way and that it would make breathing even 

more difficult for Chasse; and 

c. When, at approximately 6:29 p.m., they finally noticed that Chasse had stopped 

breathing again in the back of the police cruiser, they took an exit ramp off the freeway, stopped, 

and then summoned paramedics, by failing to disclose information to the paramedics that he had 

stopped breathing on two prior occasions, gone into convulsions and had been kicked, punched 

and kneed in his chest and ribs. Chasse did not regain consciousness. Attempts to resuscitate 

him at the scene were unsuccessful. 
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F. At Providence Medical Center 

52. Paramedics transported Chasse to the Providence Medical Center, where he was 

pronounced dead at 7:04 p.m. 

53. Humphreys and Burton failed to tell the Emergency Room physician and staff at 

Providence Medical Center how Chasse was injured and the course of his treatment. 

G.  The Policies, Practices, and Acts of Portland, Multnomah County, Their 

Respective Officials, and TriMet Which at  Least in Part  Caused Chasse's Inhumane 

and Tortured Death 

54. Portland and its John and Jane Doe officials described in 7 26, above ("Portland's 

officials"), have never disciplined a Portland police officer who acting in the line of duty has 

caused the death of an innocent citizen through the use of deadly force or who has otherwise 

caused an in-custody death. As such, that well-established refusal to discipline constitutes an 

official practice of Portland and its police bureau to support, condone, and ratify the unlawful and 

unconstitutional use of deadly force or other force that results in death. 

55. As of September 17,2006, Portland and Portland's officials knew or had reason 

to know that Humphreys had a history of and propensity for: 

a. Using extreme, excessive, and brutal physical force against innocent citizens, 

including force which is deadly or potentially deadly; 

b. Violating the constitutional rights of innocent citizens; 

c. Covering up or attempting to cover up his and others' u n l a h l  and 

unconstitutional conduct by falsifying his police reports and providing other false information 

related to his conduct. 
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56. During the time Humphreys had Chasse in custody, and thereafter, Humphreys 

falsified his police report and provided other false information to try and cover up his unlawful 

and unconstitutional conduct which caused Chasse's tortured death. Portland and Portland's 

officials know or should know about that conduct of Humphreys and nonetheless have not 

dis~ip!ined or terminated Humphreys. 

57. Portland and Portland's officials failed and refused to protect Chasse and other 

innocent citizens from unlawful and unconstitutional conduct by Humphreys by not taking 

necessary and appropriate steps to protect Chasse and other innocent citizens from being 

subjected to such conduct, and thereby supporting, condoning, and ratifying Humphreys' 

conduct, as described in 77 55 and 56, above. At the very least, Portland and Portland's officials 

knew or should have known that such necessary and appropriate steps at the very least would 

have included: 

a. timely and appropriate training; 

b. timely and appropriate discipline; 

c. timely and appropriate termination; 

d. the implementation and operation of an effective early warning system to identify, 

monitor, and take necessary and appropriate steps to prevent certain Portland police officers from 

repeatedly engaging in or allowing unlawful and unconstitutional conduct, including that which 

causes the wrongful death of innocent citizens; 

e. the implementation and operation of a thorough, independent, and effective 

review system to investigate deaths of citizens caused by the police use of physical and all in- 

custody deaths. 
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